Western Michigan University ScholarWorks at WMU

Dissertations

Graduate College

5-2021

Facilitating Implementation of In-Room Whiteboards in the Skilled Nursing Environment Using the PARIHS Framework

Ashley Lubbers Western Michigan University, alubbers15@gmail.com

Follow this and additional works at: https://scholarworks.wmich.edu/dissertations

Part of the Nursing Commons

Recommended Citation

Lubbers, Ashley, "Facilitating Implementation of In-Room Whiteboards in the Skilled Nursing Environment Using the PARIHS Framework" (2021). *Dissertations*. 3706. https://scholarworks.wmich.edu/dissertations/3706

This Dissertation-Open Access is brought to you for free and open access by the Graduate College at ScholarWorks at WMU. It has been accepted for inclusion in Dissertations by an authorized administrator of ScholarWorks at WMU. For more information, please contact wmu-scholarworks@wmich.edu.





FACILITATING IMPLEMENTATION OF IN-ROOM WHITEBOARDS IN THE SKILLED NURSING ENVIRONMENT USING THE PARIHS FRAMEWORK

by

Ashley Lubbers

A dissertation submitted to the Graduate College in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the Degree of Doctor of Philosophy Interdisciplinary Health Science Western Michigan University May 2021

Doctoral Committee:

Linda I. Shuster, Ph.D., Chair Natalie Douglas, Ph.D. Steven Eberth, OTD

FACILITATING IMPLEMENTATION OF IN-ROOM WHITEBOARDS IN THE SKILLED NURSING ENVIRONMENT USING THE PARIHS FRAMEWORK

Ashley Lubbers, Ph.D.

Western Michigan University, 2021

The application of research to practice is a difficult task to successfully carry out for many healthcare professionals and organizations. The Promoting Action on Research Implementation in Health Services (PARIHS) framework is a tool that acts as an implementation guide for translating research evidence to practice. This study explored the use of an adapted version of the PARIHS framework as a guide to implementing in-room whiteboards in a skilled nursing facility (SNF) on their short-term rehabilitation wing. While the utility of in-room whiteboards has been demonstrated in the acute care setting, there are few studies of their use in SNFs. This study also aimed to determine whether in-room whiteboards might improve the SNF's patient safety measures, including numbers of falls and rehospitalizations.

Data were collected on the 33-bed short-term rehabilitation unit of the SNF. Two preimplementation meetings were completed with the SNF leadership team that involved discussing the PARIHS framework and establishing plans for implementation, while recognizing not only the strengths of the facility, but also potential barriers to implementation. A follow-up meeting was conducted with the leadership team seven and a half months after whiteboard implementation to debrief on the intervention, and the utility of the PARIHS framework for planning the intervention.

Results indicated that, while some members of the leadership team found the PARIHS framework to be useful, others found it to be cumbersome to use. They also noted that the

COVID-19 Pandemic made it challenging to keep up with timely maintenance of information on the boards. However, they indicated that when the boards were used effectively, it aided in the speed and ease of information exchange. Although previous studies in the acute care setting have shown that whiteboards improved patient safety, there were no significant changes noted in the safety outcome measures of falls and rehospitalizations.

In conclusion, it appears that the PARIHS framework could be useful as a guide for implementing research evidence into a SNF setting; however, further study in additional facilities with other leadership teams is necessary to confirm its utility. In addition, future research should continue to explore the effects of whiteboard use on patient safety measures in SNFs, as the conduct of this study was affected by the pandemic. Copyright by Ashley Lubbers 2021

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

To begin, I would like to acknowledge my dissertation committee including the chair, Linda Shuster. I'm grateful for the time and energy Linda has put into guiding me over the last almost five years. It's been a long journey and having her as a constant support has been instrumental. And Natalie and Steve; thank you for being so helpful to me in the planning and execution of my project. Your expertise has helped shape my research and learning. I'm also grateful to my IHS colleagues who made the first two years of classes so enjoyable and for relationships that will stand the test of time. And finally, my family who has surrounded me and supported me on this journey. Mainly, my husband, Matt and his willingness to pick-up all the extra whenever I needed to focus on the program and my research.

Ashley Lubbers

TABLE OF CONTENTS

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTSii
LIST OF TABLES
CHAPTER
I. INTRODUCTION
Background of the Problem2
Statement of the Problem
Study Purpose
Research Question7
Study Significance7
Conclusion
II. REVIEW OF THE LITERATURE
Introduction9
Search Description9
Theoretical Framework11
Review of the Literature
Section One: Whiteboard Use11
Information Sharing and Improved Communication12
Patient Satisfaction15
Exploring Electronic Whiteboards16
Whiteboard Implementation Recommendations19
Section One Summary

Table of Contents—continued

CHAPTER

Section Two: Whiteboard Use in Skilled Nursing2
Section Three: Implementation Science
Study Aim and Hypothesis
III. METHOD
Setting and Sample
Procedures
Phase One
Phase Two
Phase Three
Data Analysis
IV. RESULTS
PARIHS Framework Meetings
Leadership Meeting: Session One
Leadership Meeting: Session Two
Transcript Analysis Results for Sessions One and Two
Leadership Meeting: Session Three
Safety Outcome Measures
V. CONCLUSION
Limitations
Future Research

Table of Contents—continued

APPENDICES

A. Table 1. Criteria Used to Rate PARIHS Constructs for the PARIHS Assessment ⁵	47
B. WMU Human Subjects Institutional Review Board Approval Letters	49
C. Field Note Format With Respective PARIHS Elements and Sub-elements	52
D. Facility Designed Whiteboard Layout	54
E. Focus Group Questions	56
F. Facility Designed Whiteboard Layout With Responsibility Designations	58
REFERENCES	60

LIST OF TABLES

1.	Number of Studies Identified in the Literature Review	. 10
2.	PARIHS Sub-Elements Rated as Mixed with Relevant Comments from	25
	the Leadership Team in Regard to Potential Barriers	. 35
3.	Falls and Rehospitalizations Pre and Post Intervention	. 41

CHAPTER I

INTRODUCTION

Use of evidence-based practice (EBP) in healthcare organizations is linked to improved patient care and better health outcomes.¹ Most professions have a strong body of knowledge gained through case studies, clinical research, and meta-analyses, yet the application of EBP to practice is often delayed.¹ Successful implementation of EBP benefits not only the patient, but also the healthcare organization as a whole by producing better outcomes and controlling costs.¹

Besides the desire to provide the best care possible, healthcare facilities face tightening regulations from insurance companies to provide quality care as positive outcomes become more closely tied to reimbursement rates.² Today's healthcare reform financially incentivizes positive outcome measures for a wide variety of services. When healthcare providers apply EBP, the likelihood of better outcomes increases, yet there continues to be a gap between research and practice in many healthcare professions.¹

Application of EBP to typical settings is noted to be difficult for a number of reasons, including lack of time for research, lack of access to EBP, and difficulty translating research into clinically meaningful action.³ Healthcare organizations and healthcare providers continue to struggle with consistent and timely translation of research to practice. When attempts to implement EBP do occur, the outcomes can be highly variable. This is often due to failure to use proven, systematic implementation strategies.⁴ Implementation science is a newer sector of research that involves application of strategies for systematic implementation of EBP to improve uptake.⁵ Transfer of research knowledge to practice is challenging, but adapting the intervention to be

1

implemented into routine practice shows some promise.⁶ This customization involves examining the characteristics of the implementation environment while also considering the barriers to implementation for the specific organization.

The Promoting Action on Research Implementation in Health Services (PARIHS) framework is an approach to implementation science with foundations in acute care nursing practice.⁶ The PARIHS framework allows for investigators to assess the unique facets of individual healthcare facilities in regard to likelihood of successful implementation of EBP. Perry et al. investigated the suitability of the PARIHS framework for implementation science in senior care settings (skilled nursing facilities or nursing homes), finding the framework to be a good fit.⁶

Background of the Problem

When considering implementation science in healthcare, it is important to be aware of the predominant challenges. Effective communication is a barrier in many healthcare environments. Communication breakdown or miscommunication is a leading cause of inadvertent patient harm, which contributes to poor quality of care and lack of safety in caring for elderly adults.⁷ In hospital settings, communication failures are estimated to be the root cause of over 70% of cases of inadvertent patient harm with over 75% of those cases resulting in death.⁷

Skilled nursing environments are not exempt from barriers to safety and quality of care. Elderly individuals in long-term care facilities tend to be relatively fragile and at high risk for adverse events, including medication errors, falls, and pressure ulcers.^{8,9} These adverse events occur with high incidence; a 2014 Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Services (CMS) report stated that 1 of 3 skilled nursing facility (SNF) residents was affected by an adverse event within the first 35 days of their stay.¹⁰ Safety and error-prevention in healthcare is a constant challenge for care providers, but the risks and concerns are increased in skilled nursing environments.¹¹ Methods to reduce adverse events and risk of resident harm can be beneficial in improving safety and quality of life for SNF residents. In addition to communication failures, skilled nursing facilities (SNF) face the challenge of high rates of staff turnover.

Retention of direct care workers in long-term care facilities has been a long-standing issue in the U.S.¹² There exists a staff turnover rate of between 40% and 75%, or higher.¹³ Excessive levels of staff turnover can have a negative impact on the quality of care in SNFs, although studies differ on the level of impact.¹⁴ Many SNF environments resort to use of agency staff (nursing staff employed by a third-party company that is contracted to cover vacancies within SNFs) to fill open shifts when staffing issues arise. Research indicates that there is a significant relationship between using higher rates of agency staff and reduced quality of care.¹⁵ Agency staff members are not generally familiar with individual facility systems, policies, or residents, which results in a lower quality of care and reduced adherence to communication systems. The alternative to using agency staffing can be mandatory overtime, which involves requiring facility employees to extend their shift length in order to meet appropriate staffing levels in order to care for the number of residents in the facility. The consequences of mandatory overtime are over-working regular SNF staff and job fatigue, which can have a negative impact on resident safety and can cause an increase in adverse events.¹⁶ Whether an agency caregiver is contracted, or a full-time employee is overworked, the negative effects of staffing challenges are detrimental to the residents.

Furthermore, we know that healthcare delivery organizations are complex with many stakeholders and factors to be considered, especially when exploring improvement projects.

Healthcare organizations in America struggle with patient safety, soaring costs of care, and inconsistent application of evidence-based practice.¹⁷ To make improvements, researchers must utilize systematic approaches that consider underlying barriers to quality and safety.

The Joint Commission and Agency for Healthcare Research and Quality both uphold the significance of effective communication in improving patient safety and patient experience.¹⁸ Effective communication can be improved through standardizing and simplifying communication amongst healthcare professionals. A streamlined approach to communication can reduce harm and improve safety culture in SNFs.⁷ Structured methods for simple communication and information exchange in healthcare environments may be a viable method, not only for reducing inadvertent harm to residents, but also to lessen the cognitive burden or workload on caregivers.

When considering methods for improving communication in healthcare environments, Nadzam¹⁹ suggests being mindful of the following aspects:

- Choose a user-friendly method
- Ensure minimal time and effort required to use
- Convey comprehensive information efficiently
- Encourage multidisciplinary collaboration
- Limit the possibility for errors in communication.

Traditional and electronic whiteboards meet the guidelines laid out above. Many acute care hospitals utilize whiteboards as a communication tool designed to reduce cognitive burden and improve communication for nurses and caregivers through the simplistic nature by which information is shared. The in-room whiteboard allows providers to share important information in an easily readable and accessible format that enhances communication. Better communication leads to improved treatment results, increased staff motivation to achieve quality, and higher patient satisfaction.²⁰ It can also help to improve the speed of communication by having important patient information readily available when needed. Whiteboards allow for important information to be displayed in plain view without the need for login to electronic health record (EHR) systems. Furthermore, having vital information displayed where it is easily accessible allows for a caregiver to refer to the information they need when they need it rather than attempting to recall care plan details while assisting a resident.

Visual display of information can help to alleviate the mental workload for clinical staff members.²¹ Mental workload (or cognitive-load), in this regard, is referring to how much information a staff member is required to remember related to each individual's care. Reduced mental workload and less reliance on provider recall may result in decreased risk of human error. In addition, easily accessible information within a resident's room might prove to be especially helpful in SNFs where high turnover rates and presence of agency staff result in a consistent stream of new caregivers who are likely unfamiliar with individual resident needs.

Whiteboards come in a wide variety of shapes, sizes, and designs, but the primary purpose of each is to facilitate communication of important information relative to patient care. Some whiteboards are intended to be utilized solely by healthcare providers while others are intended to be a collaborative tool for communication between providers and patients. In-room or bedside, whiteboards are utilized to display pertinent information, such as patient transfer status and the need for assistive devices. Research shows promise for the in-room whiteboards to increase hospitalized patients' satisfaction with nursing care, patient perception of nursing attitudes, and improved promptness and need fulfillment when responding to a call light.²² In this study, we seek to better understand the use of whiteboards in healthcare environments and how they can impact communication and patient care.

Statement of the Problem

Communication failures are a long-standing burden in healthcare environments that result in preventable harm to individuals.²³ Coupled with staffing issues, the negative impacts on consistency and quality are unavoidable. However, standardizing and simplifying communication are shown to reduce harm to residents and improve safety to better serve individuals.⁷ Visible display of information in healthcare environments has the advantage of requiring minimal effort and time from users while also being readily accessible. This is beneficial for all individuals, not just those who are familiar with the resident. A traditional dry-erase whiteboard is a cost-effective and well-used visual display used in healthcare environments. Whiteboards have been wellresearched in acute care settings with positive perceptions of usefulness by staff members and patients alike. However, little empirical research has been focused on the implementation process behind whiteboards across healthcare settings or the quantitative impacts on safety, especially in skilled nursing environments.

Study Purpose

The purpose of this study is to prospectively plan the implementation of in-room whiteboards through an assessment of factors that impact successful implementation and then carry out the process with the implementation team. Furthermore, the study will examine the effects of the in-room whiteboards on safety measures, including falls and rehospitalizations. The use of the PARIHS framework as an assessment along with the impressions of the study participants will guide the systematic implementation and evaluation of in-room whiteboards in a SNF.

The PARIHS framework proposes that successful implementation of any given intervention is a function of the supporting evidence for the evidence-based practice to be implemented, the context of the implementation, and the methods by which the change is facilitated. There are multiple sub-elements that make up each factor, and these sub-elements are rated by stakeholders in one application of this framework. These stakeholders are familiar with the study environment and work together to reach a consensus rating for each sub-element. In this study, included stakeholders are members of the leadership team at the study facility, including the departments of nursing, case management, therapy, and life enrichment. Unanimity on each item is reached through discussion and collaboration to determine if the sub-elements will support (high rating) or hinder (low rating) successful implementation. The likelihood of successful implementation increases as more sub-elements are rated as high.²⁴

Research Question

This study aims to answer the following research question: Is there a significant change in safety outcome measures following four months of use of in-room whiteboards? The research study will allow for examination of the potential influence of in-room whiteboards on facility measures that are tracked daily and in nearly all SNF environments. In addition, this study will provide an overview of the planning process for implementation of the whiteboards through use of the PARIHS Framework.

Study Significance

This study intends to fill a gap in research related to ability of in-room whiteboards to impact safety and quality measures in the skilled nursing environment. Although a significant amount of research related to use of whiteboards in healthcare exists, the evidence is primarily qualitative and is extremely limited outside of acute care settings. With reimbursement linked to positive healthcare outcomes, organizations need to find efficient and affordable means to improve quality and effectiveness of care. Furthermore, this study intends to serve as an exemplar of implementation research in SNFs through systematic means, specifically, the PARIHS framework.

Conclusion

Skilled nursing facilities continue to have a strong need for scientific research to support EBP across a variety of concepts, but specifically in the area of communication. This study investigates a potential method for improving communication exchange between healthcare workers and residents. In-room whiteboards offer a low-cost option for organizations to facilitate improved communication for residents and amongst caregivers. With use of the PARIHS framework, this study works toward improving implementation of EBP while also aiming to improve communication and safety in the SNF environment.

CHAPTER II

REVIEW OF THE LITERATURE

Introduction

Using whiteboards in healthcare environments to facilitate communication is not a novel concept. Both electronic and traditional versions of this intervention have been utilized in many different hospital departments including emergency, labor and delivery, oncology, and general medical wards. The majority of research indicates that whiteboards can be useful in improving communication and information exchange in hospital environments. This chapter offers a review of the relevant literature related to the use of multiple types of whiteboards in healthcare to facilitate communication.

Search Description

The following databases were selected and searched based on their relevancy to healthcare research: Scopus, PubMed, CINAHL, and Proquest Health. Search terms were intentionally broad in order to gain a wide collection of articles for review with any association of whiteboard use for patient care. Each search involved the use of the key terms "patient" and "whiteboard." The search was conducted to detect these keywords in any portion of the identified resources including the title, abstract, and full-text information. Results were then filtered by document type (articles and reviews) and language (English). Then, the title and abstract of each article was screened and those not relevant to the research topic were excluded. Articles with abstracts that contained relevant search terms were exported for further review. Full-text articles were evaluated

for eligibility based on the criteria of research pertaining to whiteboard use in healthcare. Any articles pertaining to this criterion were included in the literature review. The final list of relevant articles was evaluated for duplicates in comparison to all database search results. Duplicates were eliminated and unique results were retained.

Full-text review of the final pool of articles resulted in retention of 66 relevant articles and elimination of 35 irrelevant articles. A number of studies relative to electronic whiteboards (e-whiteboards) were eliminated due to their primary focus on the provider's interactions with the boards or technological design, rather than the tool's ability to improve communication and/or safety. Articles were also eliminated if the research purpose was not focused on improving communication, patient care, workflow, or efficiencies through the use of whiteboards within inpatient healthcare environments. Studies that examined the use of whiteboards in outpatient environments or that used whiteboards solely for educational purposes were eliminated from the literature review. The search was originally conducted in September of 2017 and was updated periodically over the course of three years with the most recent update completed in August and September of 2020. Table 1 below documents the final search results.

Table 1

Database	Initial results	Filtered by document type and language	Excluded due to poor relevancy	Unique results retained	Deemed pertinent
Scopus	203	150	84	66	50
PubMed	113	111	49	16	9
CINAHL	78	68	9	13	4
Proquest Health	59	38	22	6	3
Total relevant artic		66			

Number of Studies Identified in the Literature Review

Theoretical Framework

Communication failures in healthcare environments are associated with lower patient satisfaction ratings and unfavorable outcomes for patients.²⁵ The Joint Commission reports that 65% of sentinel events (events that result in death or serious harm) can be attributed to communication failures.²⁶ Improving communication can improve quality of care and patient satisfaction, which is associated with reduced hospital readmission rates.²⁷ Hospital readmission rates are a key safety indicator used to measure quality in healthcare environments. The Institute for Healthcare Improvement promotes whiteboard use, and there are a number of studies supporting their efficacy.²⁶

The premise of this study is to explore the feasibility of using whiteboards in skilled nursing environments, since research thus far has been exclusive to hospital use. Research from a wide variety of specialties supports the use of whiteboards as a method for communicating in hospital environments, but the idea of this tool being applied to skilled nursing environments has yet to be formally explored. The following review of literature details the outcomes, benefits, and barriers of utilizing whiteboards in healthcare environments. We will also examine recommendations for implementation of whiteboards.

Review of the Literature

Section One: Whiteboard Use

The literature review procured 66 articles exploring the use of whiteboards relative to communication within medical settings involving inpatient care. Healthcare practitioners have used both traditional whiteboards and electronic whiteboard systems to enhance communication

and workflow. All of the reviewed studies examined whiteboards that had been utilized in hospital environments. Research with whiteboards in outpatient environments was eliminated from the search and research in regard to whiteboards in SNF environments was not found. The primary themes or topic areas from the identified articles included: (1) using whiteboards as a means to share information and improve communication, (2) using whiteboards to enhance patient satisfaction, (3) use of electronic whiteboards in healthcare, and (4) guidelines to direct the format and implementation of whiteboards.

Information Sharing and Improved Communication

Traditional whiteboards are a broadly used, low-cost tool in acute care settings that have been used to enhance communication between providers and patients.²⁵ There are generally two different approaches to using whiteboards in acute care: unit whiteboards versus 'in-room' or 'bedside' whiteboards. Unit whiteboards tend to be much larger in size than in-room whiteboards and are usually centrally located within healthcare departments so that all staff members can view the information they display. This type of whiteboards are only utilized by organization staff members and are not accessible by patients or family members. The in-room whiteboard is placed within each patient room and contains important information for and about the patient. The in-room whiteboards tend to include information necessary for the patient and for the provider. They act as a means of communication tool. Research thus far has examined both in-room and unit whiteboards.

To explain further, large unit whiteboards often assist in tracking patients and informing providers of current status, resident needs, and upcoming procedures. These are also helpful in organizing the admission process in labor and delivery and in emergency departments (EDs).²⁸ This style of whiteboard has been used to coordinate discharges and available bed counts.^{29–31} Unit whiteboards are helpful in strengthening communication and supporting a team approach to patient care in the monitoring of patient flow through medical units^{32,33} The boards are usually placed in a hallway or huddle space that acts as a central hub for information sharing. This area is only accessible by hospital staff in order to uphold patient privacy as governed by the Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act (HIPAA).

Across a variety of specialties, whiteboards have been implemented as one piece of a larger improvement project targeting better communication and patient-centered care.^{34–38} Hollesen et al.³⁴ effectively used whiteboards as one artefact in a quality improvement project to reduce infant asphyxia at birth. Another study utilized whiteboards as part of an improvement project for visual display of patient information regarding diabetes management in order to successfully reduce hypoglycemia in preoperative diabetics.³⁵ In-room whiteboards have also been utilized in an improvement study to reduce falls and pressure ulcers, along with bedside handovers and other quality inititives.³⁹ Xiao et al.⁴⁰ found whiteboards to be a functional tool within operating rooms for improving communication, awareness, and collaboration, along with other interventions.

A study by Harper et al.³⁶ involved implementing a bundle of patient-centered interventions, one of which was the in-room whiteboard. Narrative responses from nursing staff were analyzed and one of the identified themes was 'passing the baton,' which referred to handoffs at shift change that were completed at bedside with the whiteboard being updated at that time.³⁶ The

staff reported that the bedside whiteboards were an incredibly important element and that the whiteboards acted as a form of accountability for the shift-to-shift report.³⁶ Multiple studies document the improved handoff of patients from provider to provider with the use of whiteboards as a guide.^{30,36,39,41–43}

Studies also differentiate between patient and provider opinions of the usefulness and purpose of whiteboards. In a survey of healthcare providers who incorporated whiteboards into their daily routine, the providers felt the in-room whiteboards had the potential to improve teamwork, communication, and patient care.²⁶ The whiteboards increase involvement in care from multidisciplinary team members.⁴⁴ They permit communication and information sharing between providers even when all providers are not present, allowing for synchronous and asynchronous communication.^{40,45} In terms of patient handover, the whiteboards ir provide focus, information and structure for discussions" (p. 49).⁴⁶ In-room whiteboards are an instrumental piece of daily rounds for improving communication and patient satisfaction.⁴⁷

Whiteboards have the benefit of being accessible at a glance by any care provider.⁴⁶ A caregiver can easily view a variety of details about the patient's care plan, status, or needs. "The use of a whiteboard has been shown to be effective for recording salient patient information and functioning as a communal memory tool" (p. 139), allowing for information sharing across time.⁴¹ The whiteboards also have the advantage of being simple to use by providers, families, and patients without any specific technical skills or training.

A final benefit of the traditional whiteboard is that it is a relatively low-cost intervention. Prices vary by board size and manufacturer, but Carlin²² estimated implementation of a single whiteboard would cost approximately \$40 for a 24-inch by 36-inch board. With the reasonable cost and ease of acquisition, whiteboards can be a viable option for nearly any healthcare organization.

When examining the impact of whiteboards as a tool for communication and collaboration, it is important to consider what barriers or shortcomings exist. Nowacki et al.¹⁸ investigated the use and functionality of whiteboards across four inpatient units at a pediatric hospital. The four primary reasons for lack of use of the whiteboard or incomplete information sharing were insufficient writing space, too many categories to complete, unspecified responsibility for whiteboard upkeep, and forgetting to update the board.¹⁸ The study procedures involved revising the whiteboard layout and designating responsibility for completion in order to overcome the identified barriers.¹⁸ The study goes on to offer whiteboard layout and implementation recommendations, which will be discussed later in this paper.

Patient Satisfaction

A survey of patients on a general medical ward found a significant increase in patient satisfaction with communication after whiteboards were implemented on the unit.⁴⁸ Current research has discovered that use of the whiteboards improves a patient's awareness of the individuals on their medical team, details related to their clinical care, and patient understanding of goals.^{22,27,49–51} Patients were also more satisfied with their treatment when residing in hospital rooms with whiteboards in use.^{27,49} Devlin et al.⁵² found that patients felt that the in-room whiteboard allowed them to be more involved in their care while hospitalized. As part of an improvement project, patients rated in-room whiteboards as helpful in putting them at ease and improving discharge preparedness.⁵³ Patients surveyed by Carlin²² reported an improvement in response to

call-lights, periodic checks from nursing staff without request, and improved manner of nursing staff following implementation of bedside whiteboards.

When asked about who generally updates or changes information on in-room whiteboards, patients reported that nurses are observed to use the whiteboards more than physicians.^{54,55} The most valued information by patients included provider names, current date, information about upcoming procedures, and the goals of care.^{47,51,54} Ninety-five percent of the surveyed patients rated the whiteboards as helpful and 92% reported using them frequently during their stay.⁵⁴ Family members were more likely to engage in writing information or questions on the inroom whiteboards when informed of the purpose by healthcare providers.⁵⁵

A systematic review published in 2017 explored bedside visual tools and their impact on improving satisfaction in medical settings. In a broad sense, the study found that using visual tools has a positive influence on communication.²⁵ The study reiterated the findings from Singh et al.⁴⁸ and Sehgal et al.²⁶ reporting that whiteboards have a positive impact on communication and patient satisfaction.²⁵ The review states that visual tools serve as a means to display information for patients and family members that can be updated throughout the day and interacted with as needed.²⁵

Exploring Electronic Whiteboards

In addition to the traditional whiteboard research, the literature review generated multiple articles that investigate how electronic whiteboards (e-whiteboards) can improve information sharing in a variety of healthcare environments from the emergency department (ED) to the intensive care unit (ICU). Information sharing may be as simple as communicating care providers' names to patients or as complex as tracking the status of surgical rooms and the location of patients throughout the hospital. The e-whiteboard is a newer spin on the traditional whiteboard. Electronic whiteboard use has been growing in popularity as the capability for interfacing the whiteboard with EHR systems grows and also as a means for collaboration between healthcare providers.^{56–58} Electronic whiteboards are a tool to share information in real-time for efficient patient management.^{59–62} Technology in medicine continues to grow as it is seen as a resource to improve care coordination, safety, and efficiency.⁶³ It is important to investigate e-whiteboards when considering whiteboards as a tool for improving communication as the research demonstrates e-whiteboards to be an effective and promising tool.

Halvorsen et al. implemented an e-whiteboard system with the intent of improving information sharing and collaboration between healthcare providers.⁵⁹ As the study progressed, additional departments outside of clinical care were added as users because they found the e-whiteboard was helpful in improving efficiency for ancillary departments, such as dining services and housekeeping, as well.⁵⁹ The study utilized a lightweight technology (LWT) paradigm, which involves the use of common technology easily managed by adept, everyday users and not requiring implementation or management from information technology (IT) professionals.⁵⁹ This LWT approach was favored because it allowed for efficient communication of simple information while also being user-friendly and accessible to end users.⁵⁹ However, the researchers found that communication of complex information was much less successful through the applied intervention.⁵⁹ This study supports the use of visual displays of information for real-time information exchange for healthcare providers in a simple, user-friendly way.

Similar to the traditional whiteboard, studies indicate that the e-whiteboard can be helpful in patient handover from provider to provider, although findings have been mixed.⁶⁴ The e-whiteboard is also a valuable resource for improving patient flow through the hospital and improving workflow for providers while also reducing wait times.^{65–67} Interviews of providers

who trialed an e-whiteboard simulation felt that the tool could improve communication, reduce EHR log-ins, and make providers more rapidly aware of new patient information.^{68–72} One study also found that being able to access patient information on an e-whiteboard within the patient room significantly increased the amount of time nurses spent with the patients and decreased the amount of time spent at the control desk (or nurse's station).⁷³ Furthermore, a reduction in EHR throughout a provider's day may be a time-saving and efficiency-improving benefit of whiteboards that provide visual access to information.

Abujudeh et al.⁷⁴ specifically outlined the differences between an e-whiteboard and a traditional whiteboard in regard to communication in EDs. Five areas were compared: ease of use and legibility, data management, triage function, data tracking, and distribution and assistance in quality management.⁷⁴ The most significant differences noted were that the e-whiteboard offered no challenges with legibility and had more capacity to share large quantities of information.⁷⁴ The e-whiteboard also allowed for triaging, remote accessibility, and ability to track data for quality management.⁷⁴ The study highlighted the benefits and advantages of an e-whiteboard over a traditional whiteboard. Alternatively, Patterson et al.⁷⁵ studied e-whiteboards in two Veterans Affairs EDs with findings indicating that physicians in the studied units were less likely to use the e-whiteboard than the traditional whiteboard. The study also noted more inaccuracies on the e-whiteboards than the traditional whiteboards, which may be attributed to clinician management of the traditional boards versus clerical management of the e-whiteboards.⁷⁵ Taneva et al. found that, even though providers were satisfied with the e-whiteboard functionality, the team's acceptance and uptake of technology seemed to negatively impact adoption of the ewhiteboard.⁷⁶ In addition, the complexities of the e-whiteboard platforms required additional staff training time and support from IT.⁷⁷ Information related to the cost of various electronic

whiteboard applications was difficult to locate in the literature review. Estimated or exact costs were not readily shared in the reviewed articles, but with the need for a computer system or tablet it is clear that the cost to implement electronic whiteboard systems would far surpass \$40 per patient room. It is important to consider context, culture, and cost when evaluating the feasibility of implementing an e-whiteboards system.

In summary, e-whiteboards are a provider-centered tool that can improve collaboration and assist with information exchange. Studies demonstrate that e-whiteboard systems that are user-friendly and updated in real-time are more advantageous, but individual provider acceptance and organizational structure may impact uptake of the e-whiteboard. Although a helpful tool in managing patient flow, improving communication, and increasing collaboration, the e-whiteboard tends to be more provider-focused than patient-centered. The e-whiteboard approach also appears to be most preferred in fast-paced ED environments where patient status and location changes more rapidly.

Whiteboard Implementation Recommendations

Sehgal et al.²⁶ proposed a set of guidelines for future whiteboard implementation projects. To be effective with whiteboard use, the authors recommend that whiteboards be in clear view of the patient, dry erase markers be fastened to the board, and that structured templates are created before implementation.²⁶ Singh et al. placed the boards at standing eye-level and also utilized a whiteboard template.⁴⁸ Location of the board should be optimized in regard to visibility by providers and staff and also with consideration of ease of access.⁷⁸ Whiteboards that are not strategically placed can be a barrier to adoption and use. The templates provide structure and context for users and should include some orientation information, such as the day and date.²⁶ It

is also helpful to include the names of the patient, nurse, and physician.²⁶ Other recommended information for the template is the goal for the day, the anticipated discharge date, family contact information, and a section for patients and families to write questions for the providers.²⁶ Additional study recommendations were for nursing staff to be primarily responsible for maintaining the boards and that a system be created for auditing the whiteboards.²⁶ It is also vital to be mindful of what information is being exchanged and the visibility of the whiteboard in order to uphold security of patient information.⁶⁴

A further consideration when implementing use of whiteboards is to consider the environment or culture of the organization. A team must be open to and accepting of the visual tools and they must be engaged in the process.⁴⁵ Additionally, there must be consistent follow up from leadership to enforce accountability and to remedy identified barriers.⁷⁹ The use of whiteboards is most successful when they are used as part of a rounding routine and are referred to multiple times throughout the day.⁸⁰ A planned or pre-meditated approach to implementation and use of whiteboards is likely to increase their use and effectiveness.⁸⁰

Section One Summary

Traditional and electronic whiteboards both show promise as tools for improving communication and collaboration in healthcare environments. Each type of whiteboard has advantages and disadvantages that were identified through the literature review. When considering the option of using whiteboards as a strategy to improve communication in the SNF environment, it is important to consider both functionality and feasibility. Traditional whiteboards have the advantage of being user friendly with virtually no training required to utilize the communication tool. Additionally, implementation does not require consultation of IT or other departments and can generally be carried through by the clinical team. Another important consideration is the affordability of a traditional whiteboard versus e-whiteboard; the traditional whiteboard is low-cost and likely more attainable for healthcare organizations from a financial perspective. Traditional whiteboards also have the benefit of being a patient-centered communication tool that increases collaboration between the patient and the healthcare team, leading to better care outcomes. Currently, the literature does not contain research regarding the use of whiteboards in SNF environments. However, based on the information gathered, the implementation of whiteboards in the skilled nursing environment seems feasible and has the potential for increasing effective communication in an attempt to reduce adverse events.

Section Two: Whiteboard Use in Skilled Nursing

Despite the broad variety of research articles reviewed, information about the use of whiteboards in skilled nursing environments is lacking. Thus far, research related to whiteboards has been almost exclusively in hospital environments. Short-term rehabilitation wings in skilled nursing environments usually contain patients who have discharged from the hospital after an unexpected medical event or surgery. These patients likely become accustomed to the widespread use of whiteboards in the hospital environment and would easily adjust to a SNF room with an in-room whiteboard of similar purpose.

Based on the literature review, whiteboards have had positive impacts on communication and patient satisfaction. Whiteboards have also been utilized as an aid in improvement studies to improve safety and reduce adverse events across a variety of populations. Research is needed to determine if the same intervention can be applied in SNF settings and have similar results. Although a previous study conducted in a SNF did not reveal significant differences in safety measures pre- and post-whiteboard implementation, that facility had a low number of adverse events to begin with, which may have led to a ceiling effect (Lubbers & Shuster, in preparation).⁸¹ The study did reveal that nursing staff found the whiteboards to be an effective way to manage resident needs at shift changes. Communication barriers are a large contributor to decreased safety in SNF environments and whiteboards are a simple, low-cost intervention that have proven useful in improving communication. More research is needed to determine if it is a viable and effective option in more geriatric-focused settings. Additionally, research of in-room whiteboards continues to develop and it is important to begin to add quantitative research to the wide array of qualitative research that currently exists.

Section Three: Implementation Science

In order to produce high quality care, control costs, and improve patient outcomes, healthcare organizations must learn to effectively implement evidence-based practice (EBP). EBP is becoming continually more important for organizational success as today's healthcare reform ties strong outcome measures to reimbursement rates.² Efforts to implement EBP can have highly variable effects which are often underpinned by a failure to use proven theories to support the efforts.¹ To improve the likelihood of success in implementation of EBP, it is recommended that the intervention be assimilated into routine care practices.⁶

A variety of frameworks have been established to assist with the translation of research to practice. One particular approach emerged early: Promoting Action on Research Implementation in Health Services (PARIHS), which is designed to facilitate the transfer of EBP to practice.⁸² One way the PARIHS framework guides investigators is by assessing an organization to determine the likelihood of success in implementing EBP based on a number of factors that are important to

implementation. The PARIHS framework originated as a technique utilized in acute care nursing practice, but has been shown to be a good fit for application of EBP in skilled nursing environments.^{5,6} The PARIHS framework is an easy and clear guide for implementation of EBP that can be especially helpful to those with limited experience in implementation science.⁴ However, some researchers feel that the framework lacks specificity which gives way to a variety of interpretations of the core concepts.⁴

The original PARIHS framework has been adapted over time by a variety of research teams in order to better operationalize the framework in practice.⁸³ The adaptation of the PARIHS framework that was applied in this study is a product of research conducted by Stetler et al. The adaptations of the PARIHS framework were intended to overcome identified limitations, including lack of clarity and specificity of concepts, lack of detail about critical components to the framework, and lack of satisfactory evaluation measures.⁸³ Stetler et al.'s adaptation of the PARIHS framework aims at improving the functionality of the PARIHS framework as a prospective tool for planning implementation projects rather than a retrospective analysis tool.⁸³

To apply the adapted version of the PARIHS framework, researchers and stakeholders work together to evaluate three components vital to any implementation project: the supporting evidence, the context of the implementation, and the methods by which the change is facilitated.⁶ The main elements of the PARIHS framework include the evidence, context, and facilitation.⁶ In addition, each main element is further described by sub-elements. Appendix A provides an overview of the sub-elements of each element along with descriptors for rating the quality of each sub-element (high, mixed, and low) and the criterion used to assign a descriptor.

Stetler and colleagues⁸³ adaptions to the PARIHS framework were further simplified by Hill et al.,⁵ which acted as the model and guide for the present study and is described in further

detail here. The first PARIHS element of 'evidence' consists of three sub-elements: research evidence, clinical experience, and patient experience. Users consider what evidence there is to support the use of the proposed intervention for the study including quantitative, qualitative, and mixed methods studies.⁵ If there are any guidelines published about the intervention, those should also be examined.⁵ In order to achieve a 'high' rating, the intervention must be well-researched and supported by the literature through randomized controlled trials or through documented guidelines for application.⁵ In the sub-element of clinical experience, a 'high' rating indicates that the participants or stakeholders are mainly supportive of the intervention based on their personal knowledge or interaction with the intervention.⁵

The second element in the PARIHS framework is 'context,' which incorporates leadership, culture, and measurement, and gives us a closer look at an organization's characteristics and internal workings. The leadership sub-element requires rating of the organization, resource distribution, and clarity of roles for the leaders of the organization.⁵ Culture is rated based on strength of morale, supportiveness of the team, and opportunities for innovation.⁵ The subelement of measurement involves analysis of current organizational systems for accountability and performance.⁵

The final element of the PARIHS framework is facilitation and is made up of characteristics, role, and style. These sub-elements are rated in regard to the individual who is chosen as the principal facilitator of the intervention project. The sub-element characteristic is rated high when the facilitator is known to exhibit respect, credibility, and empathy from their team.⁵ The role of the facilitator is considered the second sub-element of facilitation and involves determination of the facilitator's ability to be a strong supporter of the intervention with well-defined

responsibilities.⁵ And the final sub-element, style, examines the facilitator's tendency toward consistency, flexibility, and adaptability, which are characteristics that support implementation.⁵

Each sub-element is discussed and rated as low, mixed, or high by the involved stakeholders. Consensus is reached through discussion and collaboration to determine if the evidence, context, or facilitation sub-elements will support (high rating) or hinder (low rating) successful implementation. The likelihood of successful implementation increases as the number of highly rated sub-elements increases.³

The PARIHS framework was selected for the present project because of its appropriateness for research in SNFs and for its ease of use regardless of researcher experience level. The literature review indicated that evaluating the context of environments prior to whiteboard implementation is an important measure; the PARIHS framework includes context evaluation as one of the three main factors for successful implementation. Use of the framework will add structure and guidance for the implementation of whiteboards in the SNF environment in order to enhance the likelihood of successful acceptance of the intervention.

Study Aim and Hypothesis

This study aimed to investigate the feasibility and benefits of whiteboards in the skilled nursing environment as a communication tool. The study utilized the PARIHS framework as a guide to implementation. It can be difficult to measure the impacts of in-room whiteboards objectively, as evidenced by most of the current research examining perceived impact of whiteboards by clinical staff or patients. For this study, two mandatorily recorded safety measures (falls and rehospitalizations) have been measured. The advantage of these outcome measures is that they are already collected by skilled nursing facilities as part of regulatory requirements. In this manner, the study did not require the facility to collect additional data points. It also made it possible to examine what impact whiteboards may have on common safety and quality measures. Lastly, the study aimed to further support the use of the PARIHS framework in skilled nursing and long-term care environments.

Because whiteboards have been a successful tool in acute care settings, it was assumed that they would also be a useful communication tool in skilled nursing. At this time, there remains a large gap in the literature related to whiteboard use in SNFs. This project aimed to explore whiteboard use in long-term care. It was hypothesized that the in-room whiteboards would be strategically implemented with guidance from the PARIHS framework and that a significant positive change would be shown in the safety outcome measures.

CHAPTER III

METHOD

Setting and Sample

Approval for the study was obtained from Western Michigan University's Human Subjects Institutional Review Board (HSIRB) prior to study initiation via exempt review (see Appendix B). The study was conducted at a skilled nursing facility (SNF) in Kalamazoo, Michigan. The facility has both short-term and long-term units with a total of 118 beds. The study was conducted on the short-term rehabilitation wing of the facility where individuals are admitted following a hospital stay for rehabilitation and nursing care with the plan to return to their home environment once recuperated. The study participants were employees of the facility who held administrative level positions. This included any individual whose role involved leadership and supervision of other employees in the study facility. The selected departments were nursing, life enrichment, and case management. Other care staff members and residents of the SNF were not directly included in the study and were not considered participants.

The SNF previously utilized whiteboards to facilitate communication but removed the whiteboards more than a year prior to the current study due to inconsistent upkeep and frustration from residents and families regarding inaccurate information on the whiteboards. The SNF leadership team expressed interest in reinstalling in-room whiteboards within their short-term rehabilitation unit. They desired a method by which to implement the whiteboards with more structure and accountability for upkeep. The organization's Vice President of Operations issued

permission for the study to take place at the selected facility and authorized contact with the leadership team through their organizational emails.

The participants were recruited via email with a brief overview of the study, the anticipated timelines and directions to complete the informed consent document. The informed consent document was attached to the email for review and signature. All participants gave their consent for participation prior to inclusion in the study. A total of 8 individuals were invited to participate, all of whom obliged.

Procedures

This study was carried out in three phases. The first phase of the study involved using the PARIHS framework as an aid to understanding what barriers to the implementation of whiteboards existed in the SNF and how whiteboard use could be optimized by analyzing key elements known to impact successful implementation. The second phase of the study involved placement of the whiteboards and collection of safety outcome measures. This phase of the study aimed to examine what objective safety outcome measures may be influenced by the use of in-room whiteboards in skilled nursing environments. The final phase of the study involved a focus group debriefing session with the leadership team in regard to the PARIHS framework and the in-room whiteboards.

Phase One

One initial step of employing the PARIHS framework is to review the available evidence related to the intervention to be implemented. The original intention was for the participants and student investigator to have a round table discussion face-to-face in a conference space at the study facility. However, due to the COVID-19 Pandemic, it was necessary to conduct all meetings

virtually as visitor access to the facility was prohibited. Study procedures allowed for four, onehour sessions for the participants and student investigator to move through the PARIHS framework prior to whiteboard implementation.

The team meetings involved moving through the framework by examining the evidence, context, and facilitation factors that impact successful implementation. These virtual meetings allowed for screen sharing of PARIHS sub-element definitions as outlined by Hill et al.⁵ The initial meeting began with introduction and explanation of the PARIHS elements and sub-elements with respective descriptions. At the onset of the meetings and during the rating of sub-elements, the leadership team was encouraged to view descriptions of each sub-element from the 2017 study by Hill et al., specifically, Table 1 from the study.⁵

The student investigator presented the current evidence related to the use of in-room whiteboards in medical settings to fulfill the PARIHS requirement for review of applicable evidence relative to the intervention. The other sub-elements were presented, and group discussion revolved around each. As the conversation subsided, the student investigator asked for the group's rating of each sub-element using the low, mixed, or high descriptor as presented in Appendix A; the leaders would discuss the sub-element briefly, and then come to a consensus on their rating as a group (individual ratings were not collected).

Information related to hanging location, design, and recommendations for facilitation were shared with the leadership team, as well. Only two of the one-hour sessions were required for the leadership team to successfully analyze and rate each sub-element of the PARIHS framework. The table in Appendix C was adapted from Balbale et al.⁸⁴ to fit the purposes of this study and was utilized as a format for field notes taken by the student investigator.

Phase Two

The facility director of nursing and assistant director of nursing designed the whiteboard layout and devised a plan for staff education. The selected whiteboard size was 24-inches by 36-inches, which was consistent with a number of studies utilizing in-room whiteboards in acute care. The cost per room was less than \$25, which included the whiteboard, a marker, an eraser, and Velcro adhesive to adhere the marker and eraser to the whiteboard.

After all necessary materials were assembled, the whiteboards were placed in the rooms on the rehabilitation unit. A total of 32 boards were placed in the facility with attempts to standardize the hanging location from room to room. The selected location was on the wall opposite the bed at eye-level for ease of viewing upon entering the room and limited ability to view information from the hallway. See Appendix D for the facility-designed whiteboard layout.

Phase two also involved the collection of patient safety-related data as an outcome measure to examine impacts of the in-room whiteboards. These data were obtained for a total of eight months: the four-month period prior to whiteboard implementation and the first four-month period during which the whiteboards were being used. The data consisted of de-identified information regarding numbers of falls and rehospitalizations. These measures were selected due to their replicability and the high likelihood of most SNFs tracking these data points. The Agency for Healthcare Research and Quality encourages the selection of outcome measures that do not create a burden on staff members.⁸⁵ Data collection intentionally did not interrupt day-to-day workflow or add additional burden to staff members. Further justification for the selected outcome measures is based on information from the literature review that indicates that whiteboards can be helpful in efforts to reduce adverse events, including falls.³⁹ All falls within the facility

were tracked via staff member incident report as part of their normal protocol. Rehospitalizations are monitored by the facility for 90-days after discharge.

Phase Three

The final phase of the study involved reconvening the leadership team in a focus group interview hosted via teleconferencing, which was to be held at four months post-implementation. The student investigator initiated the focus group by displaying the PARIHS framework subelements with descriptions from Hill et al.⁵ Questions were posed to the group and presented in order, as outlined in Appendix E. The student investigator moved to the next question once each team member had the opportunity to share their thoughts or when conversation regarding the question subsided, whichever came first. The discussion was audio recorded and field notes were taken by the student investigator. A full transcription of the discussion was recorded following completion of the focus group for theme analysis.

Data Analysis

Phase one of the study involved working through the PARIHS framework to determine facilitators and barriers to implementation of the whiteboards. This process, analysis of the transcripts, and excerpts from leadership team's discussions will be shared in the results section of this paper. Safety outcome measure data were analyzed with descriptive statistics and the Wilcoxon Signed-Rank Test. These data were readily available within the SNF's electronic data system and were retrieved by the director of nursing. No specific controls were utilized in this study as the overarching goal was to gain insight into the feasibility of whiteboard use within the SNF environment guided by the PARIHS framework. Statistical significance was set at the customary level ($p \le 0.05$).

The focus group interview was the final phase of the study and offered the opportunity for the leadership team to share their perceptions of the intervention and use of the PARIHS framework as a guide to implementation. The meeting transcripts for the initial meetings were analyzed using thematic content analysis with a deductive approach to identify themes in the leadership team's communication surrounding the PARIHS framework. With a strong body of literature supporting in-room whiteboards and detailing common barriers to success, a deductive approach aided in identifying themes that support evidence from the literature. Essentially, the deductive approach involves generating themes based on what has been discovered in the research.⁸⁶

CHAPTER IV

RESULTS

PARIHS Framework Meetings

Leadership Meeting: Session One

Seven of eight facility leaders participated in the initial meeting and five leaders participated in the second meeting involving application of the PARIHS framework as a guide to plan the implementation of in-room whiteboards. The team worked through each sub-element in order, with the guidance of the student investigator. In the initial meeting, of the nine sub-elements, no items were rated as low, six items were rated as mixed, and three items were rated as high.

When discussing the sub-elements encompassed in *Evidence*, the team reached a number of significant conclusions. The team understood and acknowledged the strength of the current body of *Research* relative to in-room whiteboard use. The sub-element of *Clinical Experience* spurred the most conversation, bringing up negative experiences that team members had previously with in-room whiteboards. The team noted that the previous experience in the same facility included problems with accountability for whiteboard maintenance and consistency of the information shared on the boards. In particular, expectations for upkeep were not clear nor regularly enforced. This led to frustration from staff, residents, and family and eventual termination of use. The leadership team anticipated that these problems would continue to be barriers to success, despite the systematic approach to planning provided by the PARIHS framework. Multiple team members shared how they had experienced in-room whiteboards having positive impacts on patient experience when used appropriately. A primary component of in-room whiteboard use that was identified during the discussion surrounding the sub-element *Clinical Experience* was the variety of whiteboard layouts that had been experienced by the group. In the study facility, there was no layout or set requirement for information to be shared on the whiteboards they had previously utilized. The team reported that the therapy team would often write the residents' schedule for the day, but there was no other consistent information shared from room to room. Individuals who had experienced whiteboards at other organizations reported more structure with clear layouts and expectations, which was reported to enhance compliance.

The critical element in the PARIHS framework of *Context*, which considers the leadership, culture, and existing measurement strategies of the implementation site, was discussed next. The team recognized that strong leadership, good morale, and an engaged team are important to the implementation process as these directly impact staff buy-in and accountability for task completion.^{45,79} They also recognized the current obstacles in their facility including new leaders with less familiarity with the staff and history of whiteboard use, some challenges with staff acceptance of change, and the team's challenge in holding staff members accountable for whiteboard upkeep in the past. The element of *Context* was identified as the greatest area of challenge for the leadership team and required the most planning and evaluation.

The element of *Facilitation* was rated as high overall by the leadership team, which indicated their confidence in the selected facilitator of the implementation project. The team felt the facilitator possessed the necessary qualities that aid in successful implementation. The leadership team again recognized the importance of staff buy-in and they felt this facilitator was equipped as the direct supervisor of the team members who would be interacting with the whiteboards.

Sub-elements rated as mixed included *clinical experience, patient experience, leadership, culture, measurement,* and *characteristics,* with noted areas for improvement detailed in Table 2 below. The student investigator reiterated these sub-elements to the team at the end of session one. They made plans to meet separately and create strategies and processes to remedy the areas that needed to be strengthened before implementation. Of the three main elements of the PARIHS framework—*Evidence, Context,* and *Facilitation*—the leadership team displayed the most confidence in *Facilitation,* which speaks to their confidence in their team's ability to implement change and have clearly defined roles through the process.

Table 2

PARIHS element	PARIHS Sub-element	Improvement area / area of challenge
experienceat this facility• History of cha• Team roundin helpful in incr• Buy-in from s		 History of challenge in consistent updates of boards Team rounding and hand-offs between shifts is helpful in increasing timely updates of information Buy-in from staff is important
	Patient experience	 Can relieve frustration for residents Offers consistency from acute care to long-term care Families and residents appreciate the boards if updated
Context	Leadership Culture	 New leadership team, excited to make changes Some team members are habitual 'resistors' Recent staffing changes Explaining the 'why' helps with buy-in for staff
	Measurement	• The leaders stated they were currently in the process of rolling out new systems for tracking team compliance with task completion and overall accountability
Facilitation	Characteristics	• Leaders need to discuss who will be the main facilitator

PARIHS Sub-Elements Rated as Mixed with Relevant Comments from the Leadership Team in Regard to Potential Barriers

Leadership Meeting: Session Two

The second meeting served as a checkpoint to review what plans and procedures had been established to counteract or remedy those sub-elements that had been rated as 'mixed' and could potentially impact the success of the project. The team shared the implementation plan, whiteboard layout (Appendix D), and upkeep processes at the second session. The nursing team created a layout that offered a strong format for exchange of specific information with little training required. Their layout met many of the criteria suggested by the relevant research including a structured template, orientation information, anticipated discharge date, and provider names.^{11,48} The layout was also guided by previous research⁸¹ and knowledge of whiteboard layouts from area hospitals.

The team detailed their procedure for whiteboard upkeep, including the schedule for updates and which team members were dedicated to updating each section of the whiteboard. See Appendix F for the color-coded assignments for whiteboard updates assigned to the different departments. The team planned for dissemination of the whiteboard procedures at daily huddles with their staff and created a tiered plan for auditing. The assistant director of nursing planned for the unit manager, the elected implementation facilitator, to audit the boards daily for one week, weekly for four weeks, and then move to a once monthly audit schedule. The team also ensured that each room was equipped with a marker and eraser attached to the board to eliminate lack of necessary resources as a reason for limited board use. These methods were meant to ease board use in terms of consistent content for users and provision of readily available tools to update the information.

Transcript Analysis Results for Sessions One and Two

Using thematic content analysis, significant themes were identified in the initial meeting, including the need for board maintenance to be incorporated into daily workflow, clearly defined roles, and staff buy-in. The leaders felt strongly that the level of the team's engagement in the process would be strongly linked to the success of the project. There was also consensus that being clear as to who was responsible for updating each section of the board would be instrumental in consistent upkeep and accuracy of the information. These deductive themes of clear expectations and team buy-in were identified during the first session and corroborated evidence from the research.

Another theme centered around removing obstacles and creating a system that facilitated consistent and accurate updates of information on the whiteboards. The leadership team discussed how their previous experiences had suggested that completing rounds was helpful for accountability and verification of accurate information. This involved team members going room to room to examine the boards and record updates at shift change to act as a hand-off of the patient's care to the next shift. The nurse manager would then round on the rooms spontaneously to correct errors and connect with team members who were not updating the information in a timely manner. Multiple team members indicated that consistency of updates was very important so that the information is accurate for staff and residents. Research supports this type of shift-to-shift hand-off as a facilitator to success when using in-room whiteboards.

Leadership Meeting: Session Three

Following study conclusion, three of the seven leaders who participated in the initial sessions participated in a debriefing session. This included the facility administrator, director of

nursing, and assistant director of nursing. Two of the recruited eight leaders were no longer employed at the organization and the other three leaders were not available to participate, including the unit manager who had acted as the study facilitator. Due to complications from the COVID-19 Pandemic, the session was held approximately three months later than originally planned, i.e., seven and a half months post-implementation of the whiteboards. The session began with a brief review of the PARIHS framework. Table 1 from Hill et al.⁵ was again displayed for the leadership team members. Interview questions were presented to the group both verbally and through visual display by the student investigator, progressing from question one through question seven, as displayed in Appendix E.

The leadership team reported mixed feelings relative to the PARIHS framework as a guide to the implementation project. One leader felt the framework offered a nice outline and was helpful in analyzing the process, while another leader felt the framework was cumbersome to work through. A main theme that emerged from the discussion was that consistency with board upkeep was challenging due to the unique consequences of the pandemic. The team had initially discussed requiring team rounding from room-to-room at shift change but was unable to effectively carry out this process due to isolation restrictions enacted due to COVID-19 cases within the facility.

In regard to whiteboard upkeep, the leaders reported that the therapy department was most consistent in keeping information updated; specifically, transfer status and diet. Less consistency was observed in the areas managed by nursing staff, including names of the certified nursing assistant (CNA) and nurse and the date. The case manager was responsible for completing the 'Tentative Discharge Date' section, but this was erratically completed as a result of limited entry to isolation rooms in order to reduce unnecessary exposure to COVID-19. The medical records department was responsible for updating the section relative to upcoming appointments, but they too faced barriers relative to the pandemic. The sections of 'Unit Manager,' 'Case Manager,' 'My Room #,' and 'My Phone #' stayed constant throughout the intervention period and did not require updates. The team noted that some departments demonstrated more consistency and buy-in than others, which directly impacted upkeep. The leadership team expressed that their intentions for auditing whiteboard accuracy and team accountability for accurate maintenance were significantly impacted by the regulations and precautions imposed by COVID-19.

Some positive findings reported by the team included the ease and speed of information exchange for team members when the boards were used effectively. The assistant director of nursing reported that information may typically take a day or longer to be communicated to all team members, but when the whiteboards were updated at the point of service (i.e., therapy), the team members were aware of the change in status or diet much more quickly. She also reported that she personally noticed a reduction in inquiries about resident transfer statuses from CNAs. With the in-room whiteboards, team members were able to view the information instantaneously as therapy generally updated the whiteboard immediately with their recommendations.

Two team members expressed contradictory views regarding whiteboard maintenance that should be examined. One of the leaders reported that the whiteboards were not updated consistently by the floor staff because it was too time consuming, but another leader later stated that it did not seem to take much additional time to perform updates. It is unclear why the first team leader thought it was too time consuming, because there were multiple departments involved in updating the information leaving each profession only one or two sections to modify on each whiteboard on a daily basis. The team stated in the initial meeting that they saw time required for updating as a potential barrier. Unfortunately, the final meeting discussion did not help to determine if the additional time was or was not significantly burdensome.

When asked about staff perceptions, the team did not have any information to share other than feelings that the care team would express similar opinions to what the leadership team had expressed thus far. They were also unable to report on family perceptions and experiences with the whiteboards due to visiting constraints resulting from the pandemic at the time of the study. The team did note occasional resident frustration with accuracy of information, specifically in the 'Upcoming Appointments' section. Whiteboard layout and durability were reported to be satisfactory with no recommended changes for future studies.

Safety Outcome Measures

Fall and re-hospitalization data for the four months prior to whiteboard implementation and the four months after implementation were obtained from the facility at the end of the 4month post-implementation period. Wilcoxon Signed Rank tests did not yield statistically significant differences when comparing numbers of falls and rehospitalizations before and after whiteboard implementation. Comparison of fall rates yielded p = 1.00 and a corresponding *z*score of .00. Analysis of rehospitalizations resulted in p = .26 and z = 1.13. Descriptive statistics for the safety outcome measures are displayed in Table 3.

Table 3

Variable	Total reported	Mean per month	Range
Pre-intervention falls	49	12.25	9 -15
Post-intervention falls	49	12.25	7 - 15
Pre-intervention rehospitalizations	17	4.25	4 - 5
Post-intervention rehospitalizations	24	6	2 - 9

Falls and Rehospitalizations Pre and Post Intervention

This study showed that implementation of in-room whiteboards in a skilled nursing environment is feasible and the process can be guided by the PARIHS framework. The study also showed that over a four-month intervention period, the in-room whiteboards may not impact safety outcome measures, such as falls and rehospitalizations. Although questions remained, the investigator gained some understanding of successes and barriers that exist to successful use of in-room whiteboards in the SNF environment.

CHAPTER V

CONCLUSION

This study yielded mixed results with regard to the use of the PARIHS framework for planning the implementation of an evidence-based clinical intervention in a SNF. As noted in the Results, the post-implementation focus group interview with the leadership team revealed differing attitudes toward the use of the PARIHS framework, with some feeling that it was useful and others feeling that it was cumbersome to use. There was also mixed success with regard to the actual implementation of the whiteboards. Although there were no changes in the quantitative outcome measures, when implemented as planned, the whiteboards were successful in providing current information regarding the SNF residents and were viewed positively by staff, replicating findings from previous studies conducted in acute care. In addition to the occurrence of the COVID-19 pandemic, which clearly affected the conduct of the study, another factor that may have influenced team leaders' perception of both the PARIHS framework and the implementation of the whiteboards is the facility's previous negative experience with in-room whiteboards. Cook and Sheets (2011) note that personal "equipoise" is when a clinician has no pre-conceived notion regarding the ability of one or more interventions to have a better outcome over another, and this equipoise is critically important when conducting research into clinical interventions.⁸⁷ The lack of equipoise results in bias (although the choice in this study was not between two treatments, but rather between the implementation of whiteboards or not i.e., treatment or no treatment).

Despite the fact that the team acknowledged the research support for the use of whiteboards and their need to be unbiased, the facility's previous negative experience with in-room whiteboards may have influenced some team members' attitudes regarding whether it was worth investing time into using the PARIHS to plan an implementation they did not believe would work at their facility. Two of the leaders who had previous positive experiences with in-room whiteboards at other facilities acted as advocates in the pre-planning sessions, but their actual involvement once the whiteboards were implemented was relatively limited due to their assigned roles at the facility. The leaders primarily overseeing the intervention were those who had previous negative experiences with in-room whiteboards in the same facility. As noted earlier, some of the team leaders felt that the barriers that were encountered with the previous installation of whiteboards would continue to be a problem for this study (e.g., consistent maintenance of information). Data from a study by Rycroft-Malone and colleagues²⁴ also supports the notion that a robust evidence base is insufficient to induce practice change in the face of individual attitudes and emotional responses to the change. Furthermore, despite the team's confidence in the facilitator, she failed to participate in the leadership team meetings. The team connected with the facilitator outside of the study meetings, but it is likely that her lack of participation in the structured meetings had a negative impact on the overall success of the intervention.

Despite potential bias toward the intervention, the study demonstrated that the PARIHS framework was effective in guiding the leadership team to identify strengths and weaknesses in the framework elements of evidence, context, and facilitation. This allowed the team to formulate a concise plan for the whiteboard layout, hanging location, access to necessary materials, roll-out procedures, and maintenance protocols. Overall, the conversations in the leadership discussion sessions corroborated findings from the literature review regarding barriers and facilitators to in-room whiteboard use, including the ability to keep information on the board updated.¹⁸ The

PARIHS framework allowed for objective analysis of the culture, current procedure, and leadership characteristics with open discussion of strengths and weaknesses.

There were no differences in the numbers of falls and rehospitalizations from pre- to post-whiteboard implementation. This is contradictory to some of the research in the acute care setting,²⁷ but replicates the findings of the study conducted in a SNF by Lubbers and Shuster (in preparation).⁸¹ However, the reason for the negative finding may be different for the two SNF studies. In the first study, it was hypothesized that there was a ceiling effect, because the facility had a low number of these adverse events at the onset of the study. Therefore, one of the reasons for selecting the SNF for the current study was that it did not have similarly low numbers of these adverse events. In the current study, the leadership team was not able to implement their audit plan for the whiteboards due to the pandemic, so they were used inconsistently. As a result, the ability of the whiteboards to reduce falls and rehospitalizations was not thoroughly tested. Moreover, the research in acute care demonstrating that in-room whiteboards can be helpful in reducing falls employed other interventions coupled with the whiteboards, such as team rounding between shifts and ensuring that there was a patient handoff between the team members with the whiteboard incorporated.³⁹ This study intended to employ these additional practices, but challenges arose when isolation precautions were enacted in the building due to COVID-19.

Limitations

As noted earlier, the current study was affected by the pandemic, with facility restrictions affecting the logistics of the investigation. Moreover, changes in care resulting from a pandemic can negatively affect the healthcare workers who are responsible for implementing a new

intervention. For example, contact precautions and the resulting patient isolation can induce delirium and depression in patients and amplify psychosocial needs in those caring for them .^{88–90}

Healthcare workers who are providing care during the COVID-19 pandemic have been shown to demonstrate depression, anxiety, insomnia, and distress, with women being especially vulnerable to these symptoms.⁹¹ Moreover, even prior to COVID-19, nurses working in the SNF environment were shown to have higher levels of burnout and job dissatisfaction than nurses in other healthcare settings.⁹² Thus, SNF staff who are already burned out may find implementing a new intervention to be a burden, even an intervention that might help make the job easier. Asking them to do so during a pandemic may be perceived as especially burdensome. With regard to the PARIHS framework, the pandemic could certainly be viewed as a challenging implementation context.²⁴

Future Research

It is recommended that future research into whiteboard use in the SNF setting consider employing the PARIHS framework as a guide for planning implementation due to its success in this study. It is also recommended that study facilitators consider a longer data collection period coupled with shift-to-shift rounding for consistent whiteboard updates, since this was proven to be beneficial in the research. It would also be very useful to include call-light presses and response times in future research as an additional quantitative outcome measure to determine if the inroom whiteboards can have any significant impact on decreasing the number of presses and/or the shortening the duration of time a resident awaits assistance. It would be helpful to conduct the research in SNFs with Medicare star ratings below five to avoid the ceiling effects observed in the Lubbers and Shuster (in preparation) investigation. It is recommended that future research go beyond testing the feasibility of in-room whiteboards and more closely examine how the intervention can be used to improve communication in SNF environments. Measuring perceived impacts on communication from both the resident and employees' viewpoints would be beneficial. It would also be helpful to understand whether the in-room whiteboard adds or alleviates burden on care team members, particularly given the greater job dissatisfaction and burnout experienced by SNF nurses as compared to those in acute care.⁹² The existing literature on e-whiteboards revealed that workflow was improved,^{65–67} but it would be valuable to know if this positive outcome extends to SNF environments.

Another highly important area to explore is that of patient satisfaction. Previous studies in the acute care setting indicated that in-room whiteboards may be able to assist in improving patient satisfaction.^{20,21} Significant other and family perceptions of the in-room whiteboard should also be explored. It is also recommended that future studies look at the perceived impacts the in-room whiteboards have on communication between providers and between residents and providers.

In summary, although there were major challenges to conducting this study, the data demonstrate that the PARIHS framework can be an effective and easy to use tool for planning the implementation of an evidence-based intervention in the SNF environment. Moreover, the strong evidence regarding the benefits of using whiteboards in acute care support the continued exploration of their use in the SNF setting. Whiteboards are a relatively simple to use and costeffective means for improving patient safety, satisfaction, and communication. Appendix A

Table 1. Criteria Used to Rate PARIHS Constructs for the PARIHS Assessment⁵

PARIHS constructs and subelements with conceptual definitions*	Low	Mixed	High
Evidence			
Research: Findings from quantitative, qualitative, or mixed method studies and/or published guidelines recommendations.	Perceived as weak.	Perceived as descriptive or anecdotal.	Perceived as strong, supported by randomized controlled trials or guidelines.
Clinical experience: Knowledge derived from personal or the clinical experiences of others that is embedded in practice and intuitive in nature.	Mainly unsupportive.	Divided or support is mixed.	Mainly supportive.
Patient preference: Patient information including previous experiences, preferences, and perceptions.	Not incorporated into any aspects.	Incorporated in some aspects.	Incorporated in most aspects.
Context	1	!	1
Leadership: High level, mid-level, and front-line supervisors or team leaders with direct/indirect influence on implementation.	Poor organization, poor resource distribution, and undefined roles.	Mixed aspects of organization, resource distribution, and role definition.	Strong organization, appropriate resource distribution, and well-defined roles.
Culture: Local values and beliefs regarding local approaches to a particular behavior or clinical practice.	Morale is poor, local consensus is unsupportive, limited opportunity for innovation.	Morale is mixed, local support is mixed, some opportunity for innovation.	Morale is strong, local consensus is supportive, multiple opportunities for innovation.
Measurement: Existing systems or processes for monitoring group or individual-level performance related to a particular behavior or clinical practice.	No auditing of or feedback on group and/or individual performance.	Some auditing of and/or feedback on group and/or individual performance.	Ongoing auditing of and/or feedback on group and/or individual performance.
Facilitation		1	•
Characteristics (of facilitator): Individual exhibits characteristics of a local expert or opinion leader essential for role as facilitator.	No exhibition of or commendation of respect, credibility, or empathy.	Some exhibition of or commendation of respect, credibility, or empathy.	Exhibition of or commendation of respect, credibility, and empathy.
Role (of facilitator): Behaviors and actions expected of the facilitator including ability to support implementation.	Undefined or unclear and ability to support implementation is weak.	Loosely defined or somewhat clear and limited ability to support implementation.	Well-defined and clear and ability to support implementation is strong.
Style (of facilitator): Possession of characteristics that facilitate or support implementation.	Strict, inflexible, inconsistent, and/or nonadaptive.	Some flexibility, consistency, and adaptability.	Mainly flexible, consistent, and adaptive.

Appendix B

WMU Human Subjects Institutional Review Board Approval Letters

WESTERN MICHIGAN UNIVERSITY

Human Subjects Institutional Review Board



Re:

Date: April 13, 2020

To: Linda Shuster, Principal Investigator Ashley Lubbers, Student Investigator for dissertation

From: Amy Naugle, Ph.D., Chair

IRB Project Number 20-04-14

Amy Naugle

This letter will serve as confirmation that your research project titled "Facilitating Implementation of In-room Whiteboards in the Skilled Nursing Environment Using the PARIHS Framework: A Mixed Methods Approach" has been **approved** under the **exempt** category of review by the Western Michigan University Institutional Review Board (IRB). The conditions and duration of this approval are specified in the policies of Western Michigan University. You may now begin to implement the research as described in the application.

Please note: This research may **only** be conducted exactly in the form it was approved. You must seek specific board approval for any changes to this project (e.g., *add an investigator*, *increase number of subjects beyond the number stated in your application, etc.*). Failure to obtain approval for changes will result in a protocol deviation.

In addition, if there are any unanticipated adverse reactions or unanticipated events associated with the conduct of this research, you should immediately suspend the project and contact the Chair of the IRB for consultation.

The Board wishes you success in the pursuit of your research goals.

A status report is required on or prior to (no more than 30 days) April 12, 2021 and each year thereafter until closing of the study. The IRB will send a request.

When this study closes, submit the required Final Report found at https://wmich.edu/research/forms.

Note: All research data must be kept in a secure location on the WMU campus for at least three (3) years after the study closes.



Human Subjects Institutional Review Board



Date: November 5, 2020

To: Linda Shuster, Principal Investigator Ashley Lubbers, Student Investigator for dissertation

From: Amy Naugle, Ph.D., Chair

Amy Naugle

Re: WMU IRB Project Number 20-04-14

This letter will serve as confirmation that the changes to your research project titled "Facilitating Implementation of In-room Whiteboards in the Skilled Nursing Environment Using the PARIHS Framework: A Mixed Methods Approach" requested in your memo received November 4, 2020 (to add post-intervention focus group interview; revise data analysis plan to include only information regarding number of falls and rehospitalizations) have been approved by the Human Subjects Institutional Review Board.

The conditions and the duration of this approval are specified in the Policies of Western Michigan University.

Please note that you may only conduct this research exactly in the form it was approved. You must seek specific board approval for any changes in this project. You must also seek reapproval if the project extends beyond the termination date noted below. In addition, if there are any unanticipated adverse reactions or unanticipated events associated with the conduct of this research, you should immediately suspend the project and contact the Chair of the HSIRB for consultation.

The Board wishes you success in the pursuit of your research goals.

Approval Termination:

April 12, 2021

Appendix C

Field Note Format With Respective PARIHS Elements and Sub-elements

PARIHS Element	PARIHS Sub-element	Rating (low, mixed or high)	Description / Discussion Notes
Evidence	Research		
	Clinical experience		
	Patient experience		
Context	Leadership		
	Culture		
	Measurement		
Facilitation	Characteristics		
	Role		
	Style		

Appendix D

Facility Designed Whiteboard Layout

My preferred name	Today is	
My Team	Transfer Status	Tentative Discharge Date
Nurse		
CNA	Diet	Other / Notes
Unit Manager		
	Upcoming Appointments	
Case Manager/ Ext.		
My room #	My phone #	

Appendix E

Focus Group Questions

- 1. What was your impression of the PARIHS Framework as an aid to planning this project?
- 2. What was hard about using in-room whiteboards and keeping information consistently updated and accurate?
- 3. What seemed helpful in using in-room whiteboards and keeping information consistently updated and accurate?
- 4. Can you describe any processes in place for updating in-room whiteboards on a daily basis?
 - a. Who is involved? Therapy, Charge Nurse, Case Manager, CNAs,
 - b. How is updating handled when there are new physician orders?
 - c. What would help this process go easier or smoother?
 - d. Do you think that staff on the floor would agree with you?
- 5. Are there aspects of the in-room whiteboard that could be improved upon? e.g. Physical appearance, organization, included information
- 6. What feedback did you receive from nursing staff about whiteboard use?
- 7. Did you perceive or observe any improvement in communication, prevention of adverse events or improvement in resident satisfaction after the whiteboards were implemented?

Appendix F

Facility Designed Whiteboard Layout With Responsibility Designations

My preferred name	Today is to b	be updated at the beginning of
My Team	Transfer status to be updated upon admit by the nurse	Tentative discharge date to be
Nurse to be updated at the beginning of the shift	To be updated after eval and with any changes within 24 hours by therapy	updated ASAP
CNA to be updated at the beginning of the shift		
Unit Manager to be updated at the beginning of the shift	Diet to be changed prior to next meal	Other/Notes
Case Manager/Ext. To be updated within 24 hours of Admit or when a change occurs	Upcoming	
	Appointments to be updated daily/PRN	Medical Records Case Manager
		Nursing Therapy
My Room #	N	/Iy phone #

REFERENCES

- 1. Melnyk BM, Fineout-Overholt E. *Implementing Evidence-Based Practice for Nurses: Real-Life Success Stories.* Sigma Theta Tau International; 2011.
- 2. Squitieri L, Bozic KJ, Pusic AL. The role of patient-reported outcome measures in valuebased payment reform. *Value Health*. 2017;20(6):834-836. doi:10.1016/j.jval.2017.02.003
- 3. Godshall M. *Fast Facts for Evidence-Based Practice: Implementing EBP in a Nutshell.* Springer Pub. Co; 2010.
- 4. Ullrich PM, Sahay A, Stetler CB. Use of Implementation Theory: A focus on PARIHS. *Worldviews Evid Based Nurs*. 2014;11(1):26-34. doi:10.1111/wvn.12016
- 5. Hill J, Guihan M, Hogan T, et al. Use of the PARIHS Framework for retrospective and prospective implementation evaluations. *Worldviews Evid Based Nurs.* 2017;14(2):99-107. doi:10.1111/wvn.12211
- 6. Perry L, Bellchambers H, Howie A, et al. Examination of the utility of the Promoting Action on Research Implementation in Health Services framework for implementation of evidence based practice in residential aged care settings. *J Adv Nurs*. 2011;67(10):2139-2150. doi:10.1111/j.1365-2648.2011.05655.x
- 7. Leonard M. The human factor: the critical importance of effective teamwork and communication in providing safe care. *Qual Saf Health Care*. 2004;13(suppl_1):i85-i90. doi:10.1136/qshc.2004.010033
- 8. Kapp MB. "At least Mom will be safe there": the role of resident safety in nursing home quality. *Qual Saf Health Care*. 2003;12(3):201-204. doi:10.1136/qhc.12.3.201
- 9. Arnetz JE, Zhdanova LS, Elsouhag D, Lichtenberg P, Luborsky MR, Arnetz BB. Organizational climate determinants of resident safety culture in nursing homes. *Gerontologist*. 2011;51(6):739-749. doi:10.1093/geront/gnr053
- 10. Centers for Disease Control. FastStats nursing home care. Accessed September 10, 2020. https://www.cdc.gov/nchs/fastats/nursing-home-care.htm.
- 11. Scott-Cawiezell J, Vogelsmeier AA. Nursing home safety: a review of the literature. *Annu Rev Nurs Res.* 2006;24:179-215. doi:10.1891/0739-6686.24.1.179
- 12. Rosen J, Stiehl EM, Mittal V, Leana CR. Stayers, leavers, and switchers among certified nursing assistants in nursing homes: a longitudinal investigation of turnover intent, staff retention, and turnover. *Gerontologist*. 2011;51(5):597-609. doi:10.1093/geront/gnr025

- 13. Cohen-Mansfield J. Turnover among nursing home staff: a review. *Nurs Manage*. 1997;28(5):59-62,64.
- 14. Riggs CJ, Rantz MJ. A model of staff support to improve retention in long-term care. *Nurs Admin Q.* 2001;25(2):43-54. doi:10.1097/00006216-200101000-00009
- 15. Castle NG. Use of agency staff in nursing homes. *Res Gerontol Nurs*. 2009;2(3):192-201. doi:10.3928/19404921-20090428-01
- 16. Hong JY, Yoo EK. Perception and associated factors on patient safety culture of care helper in nursing facility. *Information*. 2016;19(11B):5577-5582.
- 17. Kaplan G, Bo-Linn G, Carayon P, et al. Bringing a systems approach to health. doi:10.31478/201307a
- Nowacki K, Gonzalez T, Mehnert J, Jacquemard A, Tyler A. Using patient whiteboards to engage families in harm prevention and care planning: a quality improvement study. *Hosp Pediatr.* 2018;8(6):345-352. doi:10.1542/hpeds.2017-0174
- 19. Nadzam DM. Nurses' role in communication and patient safety. *J Nurs Care Qual*. 2009;24(3):184-188. doi:10.1097/01.NCQ.0000356905.87452.62
- 20. Schwerdt A, Crouch S, Cabibbo T. Empowering patients with a voice in decision-making. *Med Surg Matters*. 2011;20(6):14-16.
- 21. Hertzum M, Simonsen J. Effects of electronic emergency-department whiteboards on clinicians' time distribution and mental workload. *Health Informatics J*. 2016;22(1):3-20. doi:10.1177/1460458214529678
- 22. Carlin BJ. Using whiteboards: fixed identities. *Am J Nurs*. 2008;108(11):72A-72B. doi:10.1097/01.NAJ.0000339162.39659.99
- 23. Department of Health and Human Services, Office of Inspector General. Adverse Events in Skilled Nursing Facilities: National Incidence Among Medicare Beneficiaries. Report OEI-06-11-00370. 2014. https://oig.hhs.gov/oei/reports/oei-06-11-00370.pdf
- 24. Rycroft-Malone J. The PARIHS framework—a framework for guiding the implementation of evidence-based practice. *J Nurs Care Qual*. 2004;19(4):297-304. doi:10.1097/00001786-200410000-00002
- 25. Goyal AA, Tur K, Mann J, Townsend W, Flanders SA, Chopra V. Do bedside visual tools improve patient and caregiver satisfaction? A systematic review of the literature. *J Hosp Med.* 2017;12(11):930-936. doi:10.12788/jhm.2871
- 26. Sehgal NL, Green A, Vidyarthi AR, Blegen MA, Wachter RM. Patient whiteboards as a communication tool in the hospital setting: a survey of practices and recommendations. *J Hosp Med*. 2010;5(4):234-239. doi:10.1002/jhm.638

- Tan M, Hooper Evans K, Braddock CH, Shieh L. Patient whiteboards to improve patientcentred care in the hospital. *Postgrad Med J*. 2013;89(1056):604-609. doi:10.1136/ postgradmedj-2012-131296
- O'Rourke K, Teel J, Nicholls E, Lee DD, Colwill AC, Srinivas SK. Improving staff communication and transitions of care between obstetric triage and labor and delivery. *J Obstet Gynecol Neonatal Nurs*. 2018;47(2):264-272. doi:10.1016/j.jogn.2017.11.008
- 29. Kerr J, Maitland H, Bell C, White J, Hunter A. 21 Daily dynamic discharge a whole system solution to ED crowding. *Emerg Med J*. 2017;34(12):A875-A876. doi:10.1136/emermed-2017-207308.21
- 30. O'Brien L, Bassham J, Lewis M. Whiteboards and discharge traffic lights: visual management in acute care. *Aust Health Review*. 2015;39(2):160-164. doi:10.1071/AH14131
- 31. Heartfield M. Regulating hospital use: length of stay, beds and whiteboards. *Nurs Inq*. 2005;12(1):21-26. doi:10.1111/j.1440-1800.2005.00251.x
- 32. Ross J, Wolf D, Reece K. Highly reliable procedural teams: the journey to spread the universal protocol in diagnostic imaging. *Perm J*. 2014;18(1):33-37. doi:10.7812/TPP/13-071
- 33. Hertzum M, Simonsen J. Visual overview, oral detail: the use of an emergency-department whiteboard. *Int J Hum Comput Stud.* 2015;82:21-30. doi:10.1016/j.ijhcs.2015.04.004
- Hollesen R von B, Johansen RLR, Rørbye C, Munk L, Barker P, Kjaerbye-Thygesen A. Successfully reducing newborn asphyxia in the labour unit in a large academic medical centre: a quality improvement project using statistical process control. *BMJ Qual Saf.* 2018;27(8):633-642. doi:10.1136/bmjqs-2017-006599
- Singh A, Adams A, Dudley B, Davison E, Jones L, Wales L. Making surgical wards safer for patients with diabetes: reducing hypoglycaemia and insulin errors. *BMJ Open Qual*. 2018;7(3):e000312. doi:10.1136/bmjoq-2017-000312
- Harper R, Ward L, Silburn K. The sum of us. Implementing a person centred care bundle a narrative inquiry. *Appl Nurs Res*. Published online May 2020:151276. doi:10.1016/j.apnr.2020.151276
- Hastings SE, Suter E, Bloom J, Sharma K. Introduction of a team-based care model in a general medical unit. *BMC Health Serv Res*. 2016;16(1):245. doi:10.1186/s12913-016-1507-2
- Schwartz F. Dial a doctor: Improving lines of communication on the acute admissions unit. BMJ Qual Improv Report. 2014;3(1):u204950.w2155. doi:10.1136/bmjquality.u204950.w2155

- Burston S, Chaboyer W, Gillespie B, Carroll R. The effect of a transforming care initiative on patient outcomes in acute surgical units: a time series study. *J Adv Nurs*. 2015;71(2): 417-429. doi:10.1111/jan.12508
- 40. Xiao Y, Hu P, Moss J, et al. Opportunities and challenges in improving surgical work flow. *Cogn Technol Work*. 2008;10(4):313-321. doi:10.1007/s10111-007-0087-7
- 41. Bost N, Crilly J, Patterson E, Chaboyer W. Clinical handover of patients arriving by ambulance to a hospital emergency department: a qualitative study. *Int Emerg Nurs*. 2012;20(3):133-141. doi:10.1016/j.ienj.2011.10.002
- 42. Monash B, Najafi N, Mourad M, et al. Standardized attending rounds to improve the patient experience: a pragmatic cluster randomized controlled trial. *J Hosp Med*. 2017;12(03):143-149. doi:10.12788/jhm.2694
- 43. Richmond C, Merrick E, Green T, Dinh M, Iedema R. Bedside review of patient care in an emergency department: the cow round: an approach to improving patient safety during clinical handover. *Emerg Med Australas*. 2011;23(5):600-605. doi:10.1111/j.1742-6723.2011.01440.x
- 44. Tse Y, Miller-Grossett C, Stout J, Moghal N. Improving communication of care plans with patients and carers using whiteboards. *Arch Dis Child*. 2014;99(Suppl 1):A100-A100. doi:10.1136/archdischild-2014-306237.229
- 45. Ulhassan W, von Thiele Schwarz U, Westerlund H, Sandahl C, Thor J. How visual management for continuous improvement might guide and affect hospital staff: a case study. *Qual Manag Health Care*. 2015;24(4):222-228. doi:10.1097/QMH.0000000000000073
- 46. Mackintosh N, Berridge E-J, Freeth D. Supporting structures for team situation awareness and decision making: insights from four delivery suites. *J Eval Clin Pract*. 2009;15(1):46-54. doi:10.1111/j.1365-2753.2008.00953.x
- 47. Rehder KJ, Uhl TL, Meliones JN, Turner DA, Smith PB, Mistry KP. Targeted interventions improve shared agreement of daily goals in the pediatric intensive care unit: *Pediatr Crit Care Med*. 2012;13(1):6-10. doi:10.1097/PCC.0b013e3182192a6c
- 48. Singh S, Fletcher KE, Pandl GJ, et al. It's the writing on the wall: Whiteboards improve inpatient satisfaction with provider communication. *Am J Med Qual*. 2011;26(2):127-131. doi:10.1177/1062860610376088
- 49. Pimentel VM, Sun M, Bernstein PS, Ferzli M, Kim M, Goffman D. Whiteboard use in labor and delivery: a tool to improve patient knowledge of the name of the delivery provider and satisfaction with care. *Matern Child Health J*. 2018;22(4):565-570. doi:10.1007/s10995-017-2425-6

- Wahlberg K, Lambirth S, Gardner Z. Improving patients' ability to identify their physicians through the use of physician facecards and whiteboards. *BMJ Open Qual*. 2019;8(2):e000606. doi:10.1136/bmjoq-2018-000606
- 51. Justice LB, Cooper DS, Henderson C, et al. Improving communication during cardiac ICU multidisciplinary rounds through visual display of patient daily goals. *Pediatr Crit Care Med.* 2016;17(7):677-683. doi:10.1097/PCC.000000000000790
- 52. Devlin AS, Andrade CC, Carvalho D. Qualities of inpatient hospital rooms: patients' perspectives. *HERD*. 2016;9(3):190-211. doi:10.1177/1937586715607052
- 53. Horgan JL, Roe M, Yocom-Piatt M, Cohn N. Creation of a postpartum roadmap and whiteboard: a family's step-by-step guide toward their journey home. *J Obstet Gynecol Neonatal Nurs*. 2014;43:S22-S23. doi:10.1111/1552-6909.12393
- Goyal A, Glanzman H, Quinn M, et al. Do bedside whiteboards enhance communication in hospitals? An exploratory multimethod study of patient and nurse perspectives. *BMJ Qual Saf.* Published online November 6, 2019:bmjqs-2019-010208. doi:10.1136/bmjqs-2019-010208
- 55. Cholli P, Meyer EC, David M, et al. Family perspectives on whiteboard use and recommendations for improved practices. *Hosp Pediatr*. 2016;6(7):426-430. doi:10.1542/hpeds.2015-0182
- 56. Rambourg J, Gaspard-Boulinc H, Conversy S, Garbey M. A continuum of interfaces to engage surgical staff in efficient collaboration. *J Med Syst.* 2019;43(7):184. doi:10.1007/s10916-019-1318-1
- 57. Mendonça EA, Chen ES, Stetson PD, McKnight LK, Lei J, Cimino JJ. Approach to mobile information and communication for health care. *Int J Med Inform*. 2004;73(7-8):631-638. doi:10.1016/j.ijmedinf.2004.04.013
- 58. Hamidi M, Mahendran P, Denecke K. Towards a digital lean hospital: concept for a digital patient board and its integration with a hospital information system. *Stud Health Technol Inform.* 2019;264:606-610. doi:10.3233/shti190294
- 59. Halvorsen MR, Austad HO, Landmark AD, et al. Redesigning work with a lightweight approach to coordination technology: *Comput Inform Nurs*. 2019;37(3):124-132. doi:10.1097/CIN.00000000000493
- 60. Steitz B, Weinberg S, Danciu I, Unertl K. Managing and communicating operational workflow: designing and implementing an electronic outpatient whiteboard. *Appl Clin Inform.* 2016;07(01):59-68. doi:10.4338/ACI-2015-07-CR-0082
- 61. Randell R, Greenhalgh J, Wyatt J, et al. Electronic whiteboards: review of the literature. *Stud Health Technol Informat*. 2015;210:389–393. https://ebooks.iospress.nl/publication/39366

- 62. Vest N, Rudge NK, Holder G. ED whiteboard: an electronic patient tracking and communication system. *J Emerg Nurs*. 2006;32(1):8. doi:10.1016/j.jen.2005.12.018
- 63. Bisantz AM, Pennathur PR, Guarrera TK, et al. Emergency department status boards: a case study in information systems transition. *J Cogn Eng Decis Mak.* 2010;4(1):39-68. doi:10.1518/155534310X495582
- 64. Li YH, Fitzgerald E, Roberts R. Electronic whiteboards improve the acute surgical patient admission process. *N Z Med J*. 2019;132(1490):10-16. https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/ 30789884/
- 65. Powter L, Brougham T, Gillett C. Tracking the take using patient flow data to improve AMU performance and safety. *Acute Med.* 2016;15(2):51-57. https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/27441305/
- 66. Le V, Wagar EA, Phipps RA, Del Guidice RE, Le H, Middleton LP. Improving patient experience of wait times and courtesy through electronic sign-in and notification in the phlebotomy clinic. *Arch Pathol Lab Med*. 2020;144(6):769-775. doi:10.5858/arpa.2019-0139-OA
- 67. Forster NR, Freese C, Amlung M, Kelly B, Lamba MAS, Takiar V. Whiteboard patient tracking system improves radiation oncology treatment planning workflow. *Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys.* 2017;99(2):E551. doi:10.1016/j.ijrobp.2017.06.1924
- 68. Gjære EA, Lillebo B. Designing privacy-friendly digital whiteboards for mediation of clinical progress. *BMC Med Inform Decis Mak*. 2014;14(1):27. doi:10.1186/1472-6947-14-27
- Aronsky D, Jones I, Lanaghan K, Slovis CM. Supporting patient care in the emergency department with a computerized whiteboard system. J Am Med Inform Assoc. 2008;15(2):184-194. doi:10.1197/jamia.M2489
- Wong HJ, Caesar M, Bandali S, Agnew J, Abrams H. Electronic inpatient whiteboards: improving multidisciplinary communication and coordination of care. *Int J Med Inform*. 2009;78(4):239-247. doi:10.1016/j.ijmedinf.2008.07.012
- 71. France DJ, Levin S, Hemphill R, et al. Emergency physicians' behaviors and workload in the presence of an electronic whiteboard. *Int J Med Inform*. 2005;74(10):827-837. doi:10.1016/j.ijmedinf.2005.03.015
- 72. Jensen J. United hospital increases capacity usage, efficiency with patient-flow management system. *J Healthc Inf Manag*. 2004;18(3):26-31. https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/ 15301414/
- 73. Hertzum M, Simonsen J. Work-practice changes associated with an electronic emergency department whiteboard. *Health Informatics J.* 2013;19(1):46-60. doi:10.1177/1460458212454024

- Abujudeh HH, Kaewlai R, Kodsi SE, Hamill MA. Improving quality of communications in emergency radiology with a computerized whiteboard system. *Clin Radiol*. 2010;65(1):56-62. doi:10.1016/j.crad.2009.05.015
- 75. Patterson ES, Rogers ML, Tomolo AM, Wears RL, Tsevat J. Comparison of extent of use, information accuracy, and functions for manual and electronic patient status boards. *Int J Med Inform.* 2010;79(12):817-823. doi:10.1016/j.ijmedinf.2010.08.002
- 76. Taneva S, Law E, Higgins J, Easty A, Plattner B. Operating room coordination with the eWhiteboard: the fine line between successful and challenged technology adoption. *Health Technol.* 2011;1(2-4):81-92. doi:10.1007/s12553-011-0007-y
- 77. Brooks S, Bhatia R, Tudge K, Wilson I. Implementing an electronic whiteboard system on the in patient unit. *BMJ Support Palliat Care*. 2017;7(Suppl 1):A42.3-A43. doi:10.1136/bmjspcare-2017-00133.114
- Xiao Y, Schenkel S, Faraj S, Mackenzie CF, Moss J. What whiteboards in a trauma center operating suite can teach us about emergency department communication. *Ann Emerg Med.* 2007;50(4):387-395. doi:10.1016/j.annemergmed.2007.03.027
- 79. Papa A, Lefton C. Whiteboardology. *J Emerg Nurs*. 2016;42(2):167-169. doi:10.1016/j.jen.2016.02.009
- 80. Chaboyer W, Wallen K, Wallis M, McMurray AM. Whiteboards: one tool to improve patient flow. *Med J Aust*. 2009;190(S11). doi:10.5694/j.1326-5377.2009.tb02621.x
- 81. Lubbers A, Shuster L. Quality improvement in skilled nursing: a pilot study of the effects of patient whiteboard implementation. Unpublished manuscript 2019.
- 82. Harvey G, Kitson A. PARIHS revisited: from heuristic to integrated framework for the successful implementation of knowledge into practice. *Implement Sci.* 2015;11(1):33. doi:10.1186/s13012-016-0398-2
- 83. Stetler CB, Damschroder LJ, Helfrich CD, Hagedorn HJ. A guide for applying a revised version of the PARIHS framework for implementation. *Implement Sci.* 2011;6(1):99. doi:10.1186/1748-5908-6-99
- 84. Balbale SN, Hill JN, Guihan M, et al. Evaluating implementation of methicillin-resistant Staphylococcus aureus (MRSA) prevention guidelines in spinal cord injury centers using the PARIHS framework: a mixed methods study. *Implement Sci.* 2015;10(1):130. doi:10.1186/s13012-015-0318-x
- 85. The CAHPS ambulatory care improvement guide: practical strategies for improving patient experience. https://www.ahrq.gov/cahps/quality-improvement/improvement-guide/4-approach-qi-process/index.html

- 86. Alhojailan M. Thematic analysis: a critical review of its process and evaluation. *West East J Social Sciences*. 2012;1(1):39-47. https://fac.ksu.edu.sa/sites/default/files/ ta_thematic_analysis_dr_mohammed_alhojailan.pdf
- Cook C, Sheets C. Clinical equipoise and personal equipoise: two necessary ingredients for reducing bias in manual therapy trials. *J Man Manip Ther*. 2011;19(1):55-57. doi:10.1179/106698111X12899036752014
- 88. Day HR, Perencevich EN, Harris AD, et al. Association between contact precautions and delirium at a tertiary care center. *Infect Control Hosp Epidemiol*. 2012;33(1):34-39. doi:10.1086/663340
- DeCaporale-Ryan L, Goodman J, Simning A, Press-Ellingham L, Williams L, Hasselberg M. Addressing skilled nursing facilities' COVID-19 psychosocial needs via staff training and a process group intervention. *Am J Geriatr Psychiatry*. 2020;28(8):894-895. doi:10.1016/j.jagp.2020.04.023
- 90. Purssell E, Gould D, Chudleigh J. Impact of isolation on hospitalised patients who are infectious: systematic review with meta-analysis. *BMJ Open*. 2020;10(2):e030371. doi:10.1136/bmjopen-2019-030371
- 91. Lai J, Ma S, Wang Y, et al. Factors associated with mental health outcomes among health care workers exposed to coronavirus disease 2019. *JAMA Netw Open*. 2020;3(3):e203976. doi:10.1001/jamanetworkopen.2020.3976
- 92. McHugh MD, Kutney-Lee A, Cimiotti JP, Sloane DM, Aiken LH. Nurses' widespread job dissatisfaction, burnout, and frustration with health benefits signal problems for patient care. *Health Aff*. 2011;30(2):202-210. doi:10.1377/hlthaff.2010.0100